2000

Mary Wheeler and Petra Srbova v. Mark Mcpherson and Kane County : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(J)(1996).

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

Did the trial court error in granting defendants' motion to dismiss on the grounds that plaintiffs had failed to give adequate notice under the Governmental Immunity Act. This issue was preserved by virtue of the motion, memoranda, and order of dismissal on the issue. (R. 20, 22, 32, 83, and 166).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's grant of a dismissal for failure to comply with the notice requirements of the Governmental Immunity Act is a conclusion of law which is reviewed for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court's decision. Rushton v. Salt Lake County, 1999 UT 36, ¶ 17, 977 P.2d 1201; Larson v. Park City Mun. Corp., 955 P.2d 343, 345 (Utah 1998). See also Brittain v. State, 882 P.2d 666, 668 (Utah App. 1994).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND CASES

Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11 and 63-30-13 are implicated in this matter and therefore are reproduced in their entirety in Addendum A to this brief.

The following cases have previously addressed this issue in Utah and must be

considered in this present appeal. Rushton v. Salt Lake County, 1999 UT 36, ¶ 17, 977 P.2d 1201; Moreno v. Board of Educ. of Jordan School Dist., 926 P.2d 886 (Utah 1996); Stahl v. Utah Transit Authority, 618 P.2d 480 (Utah 1980); Scarborough v. Granite School Dist., 531 P.2d 480 (Utah 1975); Bellonio v. Salt Lake City Corp. 911 P.2d 1294, 1297 (Utah App. 1996); Bischel v. Merritt, 907 P.2d 275 (Utah App. 1995); Brittan v. State, 882 P.2d 666 (Utah App. 1994). Copies of these cases are attached hereto in Addendum B.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of a motor vehicle accident which occurred on September 27, 1998.¹ (R. 1). The accident occurred in Kane County, but the lawsuit was transferred to Washington County because the defendant Mark McPherson was an employee of Kane County and Kane County was a named party. Plaintiffs' complaint alleged that McPherson operated his motor vehicle into a motor vehicle being driven by Dale Wheeler, the husband of the plaintiff Mary Wheeler. Mrs. Wheeler and Ms. Srbova were occupants of Mr. Wheeler's vehicle. Plaintiffs complained that defendant McPherson failed to maintain proper control of his vehicle, failed to maintain a proper lookout and failed to yield to on-coming traffic and was otherwise negligent.

As a result of the accident, plaintiffs claimed to have incurred special damages

¹For the purposes of a motion to dismiss, this court must take the allegations of plaintiff's complaint as true. Harmon City, Inc. v. Nielsen & Senior, 907 P.2d 1162, 1167 (Utah 1995).

including medical expenses in excess of \$3,000.00, as well as loss of income. Plaintiffs also pled for general damages. Plaintiffs maintained that as a direct approximate result of the defendants' negligence that defendants caused plaintiffs permanent impairment, permanent disability and loss of earning capacity. Plaintiffs alleged that defendant McPherson was at all relevant times an agent and employee of Kane County acting in the scope of that agency and employment.

Prior to the complaint being filed September 27, 1999, Plaintiffs had filed a notice of claim with the Kane County Board of Commissioners by sending a notice on February 11, 1999, to each and every commissioner individually, as well as to the insurance carrier which insured Kane County.² See notices of claim attached in Addendum C (R. 64-69). Thus, the notices of claim were submitted to the governing body of Kane County less than five months after the accident occurred and seven months prior to any required notice of claim being required. The notices were sent to the Kane County offices and received by the county clerk's office. Holly Ramsay, an employee of the Kane County Clerk's office, signed for the certified notices. (R. 71-72). Later, Ms. Ramsay would file the only affidavit in support of defendants' motion stating that no notices were "filed" with the Kane County Clerk. The affidavit does not state that no notices were delivered to the

²Prior to 1998, the proper persons upon whom a notice of claim could be served were the County Commissioners, as the governing body of Kane County. Yates v. Vernal Family Health Ctr., 617 P.2d 352 (Utah 1980). Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11 was amended and the amendment became effective in May of 1998. Section 63-30-13 still requires notice to be filed "with the governing body," according to the requirements of §63-30-11.

Kane County Clerk's office, as Ms. Ramsay's signature on the return slips would clearly rebut such an assertion.

Subsequent to the notices of claim being submitted, a Kane County commissioner contacted plaintiffs' counsel and discussed the submission of the notices of claim and asked particularly concerning the demands of plaintiffs. Mr. Peatross, plaintiffs' attorney, indicated that the matter should be submitted to Kane County's insurance carrier. See Affidavit of Mr. Peatross R. 58). In a letter dated March 8, 1999, an attorney who had been retained by Kane County, Ms. Hutton, acknowledged receipt of the notices of claim and requested further information regarding plaintiffs' injuries and submitted to plaintiff a consent to release medical information. The letter did note: "Please be advised this does not constitute an acceptance or denial of the 'notice of claim,' nor does it confirm or verify the sufficiency of the claimants' notice of claim as required by the governmental immunity act, Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-1 et seq." See letter of Ms. Hutton attached hereto as Addendum D.

In a subsequent letter of March 20, 1999, Collin R. Winchester, the Kane County Attorney, wrote Mr. Peatross and indicated the claim had been turned over to adjusters who had in turn retained Ms. Hutton. The March 20, 1999 letter indicated: "Please direct all other communication and correspondence to Ms. Hutton." See attached letter attached as Addendum E. All communication with Kane County from that time forward was directed to Ms. Hutton per Kane County Attorney Winchester's request. (R. 60).

Course of Proceedings. Plaintiffs filed their complaint on September 27, 1999, one day before any notice of claim would have been required. Plaintiff's complaint was answered by Kane County. Defendant then served upon Plaintiffs a set of interrogatories, after which six subpoenas for medical records, as well as corresponding notices of records depositions were served upon defendant.

On March 16, 2000, defendants filed a motion to dismiss upon the basis that the trial court lacked jurisdiction as the plaintiff had failed to comply with the requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(3)(b)(ii)(B)(1998). The motion was supported by the affidavit of Holly Ramsay. Defendants filed a memorandum in support of the motion to dismiss (R. 22). In opposition, Plaintiff's filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion (R. 32), as well as a Rule 56 (f) affidavit seeking further discovery (R. 30). Defendants thereafter responded with a reply memorandum (R.87), as well as a memorandum in opposition to rule 56 (f) affidavit. (R.83).

A hearing was held on this matter August 10, 2000, whereupon the court granted the motion. An order thereon was filed August 28, 2000. (R. 166) Notice of appeal was thereafter filed on September 8, 2000 (R. 170).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs fulfilled the purpose of the notice of claim requirements. There is no question but that the notice of claim was received by those exercising the function of adjusting and litigating the claims against Kane County. The notice was timely, proper as

to form, and delivered to the Kane County Clerk's office. Thereafter, within the purview of his duties and with the authority vested in him as Kane County Attorney, Carl Winchester expressly directed that any and all communication or correspondence should be directed to attorney Hutton, who had been retained to defend the county. As the record before the Court shows, Ms. Hutton had in fact received the notice of claim as of that time. As a result, plaintiffs were secure in their belief that the notice of claim resided with the proper authority to investigate and adjust the claim.

Utah appellate courts have stated that in interpreting the notice requirements of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, the statute will be interpreted consistent with the overall purpose of the act itself. The primary purpose of the notice and claim requirement is to afford the responsible public authorities an opportunity to timely investigate, and if appropriate, settle claims brought against governmental entities. That purpose was clearly fulfilled under the present circumstances as the notice of claim was filed well before the one year deadline for filing the claim. However, the county attorney acknowledged receipt of the same and directed all further correspondence to go to Ms. Hutton. The purposes of the notice of claim requirements had therefore been fulfilled.

This conclusion is supported by a decision of the Utah Court of Appeals in Bischel v. Meritt, 907 P.2d 275 (Utah App. 1995) wherein a plaintiff called the county attorney's office and was told to send her notice of claim to that office. The plaintiff in Bischel followed the instruction of the county attorney's office, but when the lawsuit was

brought, the county moved to dismiss because the notice of claim had not been served upon the county commissioners. The Utah Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's dismissal and found that the notice of claim to the county attorney was valid. The Court of Appeals based this decision, in large part, on the significant fact that the attorney in the county attorney's office had verified her apparent authority to receive the notice on behalf of the county commission. Plaintiffs ask this court to affirm the reasoning of Bischel and apply that reasoning to the present case.

The present circumstances, as well as applicable law, show that the County Attorney is empowered to act on behalf of the county, particularly in the defense of claims made against the county. As such, the fact that the County Attorney indicated that all further correspondence and communication should go through Ms. Hutton, coupled with the fact plaintiffs knew that Ms. Hutton already possessed the notice of claim and had requested further information, leads to a conclusion that the notice of claim was effectual in this case.

Further, the plaintiffs maintain that additional discovery should have been allowed pursuant to Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 56(f). It is universally held that when matters outside the pleadings are considered in a motion under Rule 12 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the motion is properly treated as one for summary judgment under Rule 56. Plaintiff's motion to dismiss was supported by an affidavit. The defendant's opposition was likewise supported with an affidavit. As a result, the trial court considered matters

outside the pleadings, yet the trial court would allow no discovery pursuant to Rule 56(f). In this regard, the trial court abused its discretion. Plaintiffs Rule 56(f) affidavit spells out clearly the discovery plaintiffs wished to pursue. Since Ms. Ramsay signed for the notices of claim, plaintiffs should be allowed to discover exactly what she did with them. The only remedy for the court at this point is to reverse the dismissal and remand the case back to the district court in order for this discovery to ensue.

Finally, plaintiffs maintain that this court should take this opportunity to align Utah's law with those state jurisdictions which require "substantial compliance" with notice of claim requirements, instead of "strict compliance." Public policy stands in favor of allowing citizens to bring claims against the government where the government has acted in a tortious manner. Plaintiffs acknowledge that limitations must be set on the public's abilities to bring claims, but the finality sought to be created by the notice of claim requirements can be fulfilled by requiring strict compliance with the timing provisions of a notice of claim, but allowing for substantial compliance as to the form of the notice and its delivery.

The trial court erroneously concluded as a matter of law that the notice of claim was defective. Therefore, this court must reverse.

ARGUMENT

I. PLAINTIFFS FULFILLED THE PURPOSE OF THE NOTICE OF CLAIM REQUIREMENTS; DEFENDANTS ARE ESTOPPED FROM RAISING THE NOTICE OF CLAIM ISSUE

Plaintiffs delivery of the notice was legally sufficient. The facts and circumstances of this case indicate that defendant should be estopped from asserting the failure to file the notice of claim with the county clerk. The real claim of the defendants is that the claim was not directed to the County Clerk. The record indicates that the notices were in fact received in the County Clerk's office by an employee of the County Clerk. There is no question but that the notice of claim was received by those with exercising function of adjusting and litigating claims against Kane County. Moreover, under the actual or apparent authority of his position as Kane County attorney, Carl Winchester expressly directed the plaintiff's to direct all further communication and correspondence to an attorney who had been hired by the county's insurer. This all inclusive statement would encompass any notice of claim. Thus, the continuing activities of the defendants in the following many months prior to the expiration of time for the notice of claim to be filed, and the information forwarded, clearly constituted a proper notice of claim. Even if such did not constitute as proper notice, the activities and representation of Mr. Winchester lead to the conclusion that defendants should be estopped from asserting the notice of claim requirements as being fatal to plaintiff's claims.

Utah appellate courts have explained that interpreting the notice of requirements the Utah governmental immunity act they will do so in a manner consistent with the overall purpose of the act itself. Brittian v. State by and through Utah Department of

Employment, 882 P.2d 666, 670 (Utah App. 1994). This court recently explained that a notice of claim provides the entity sued with the factual details of the incident and provides the governmental entity “an opportunity to correct the condition that caused the injury, and perhaps settle the matter without the expense of litigation.” Rushton v. Salt Lake County, 1999 UT 36, ¶ 20, 977 P.2d 1201 (quoting Larson v. Park City Mun. Corp., 955 P.2d 343, 345 (Utah 1998)).

As explained by the Utah Supreme court, “[I]t is necessary to consider the policy of the notice requirement so that in any particular case the facts may be evaluated to determine that the intent of the statute has been accomplished.”

Brittian, 882 P.2d 666, 670.

The Brittian court, citing the Utah Supreme Court, explained the purpose of the notice of claim requirement.

[T]he primary purpose of the notice claim requirement is to afford the responsible public authorities an opportunity to pursue a proper and timely investigation of the merits of a claim and to arrive at a timely settlement if appropriate thereby appointing the expenditure of public revenue for costly and unnecessary litigation.

Brittian, 882P.2d at 671. In finding that the plaintiff in Brittian had fulfilled the notice of claim requirements by filing a notice of claim with the division of risk management,³ which agency had the responsibility to adjust the claim, the court concluded:

Considering the duties delegated to Risk Management, it appears the state entity

³ Brittian was decided under a predecessor statute.

entrusted with investigating and settling or defending the claim received the requisite notice in a timely manner and well within the one year period imposed by the statute. Filing notice with Risk Management in no way inhibited the possibility of settling the claim without resort of litigation. In fact, given the powers and responsibility the legislature has bestowed upon risk management, the opposite is true. Filing notice with Risk Management facilitated settlement discussion by providing notice to the agency responsible for investigating and settling the claim.... Indeed, the record indicates that Risk Management activity pursued settling Brittian's claim.

In the present matter, the exact same factual scenario is presented. The letters by Mr. Winchester and Ms. Hutton point out that Ms. Hutton was delegated the duty of investigating or settling or defending the claim which had been received by virtue of the notice of claim filed with the county commissioners. Filing the notice with the county commissioners has in no way inhibited the possibility of settling the claim without resort to litigation. Instead, Ms. Hutton attempted to verify the claim by the submission of the consent to the release of medical records. All of the activities occurred in the months before the notice was due. Thus, the agents for Kane County actively pursued investigating and settling this claim.

The holding of Brittain obtains here. As the plaintiff in Brittian had timely filed the notice of claim, the Brittain court only required substantial compliance with the statute as to the notice's delivery. Such substantial compliance meets all of the goals of the Governmental Immunity Act. The correct entity had an opportunity to investigate the claim. That entity could thereafter adjust and settle the claim.

The case of Stahl v. Utah Transit Authority, 618 P.2d 480 (Utah 1980) buttresses

the position that the notice of claim in this matter was satisfactory. In Stahl, the plaintiff was rear ended by a UTA bus. The same day as the accident, plaintiff was contacted by the insurance adjuster for the insurance carrier for UTA.

He obtained a statement from her concerning the accident and wrote a two page report based on her answers to his inquiries. Vance also had Plaintiff sign a statement and medical information release allowing her physical physician to disclose information to him.

Stahl, 618 P.2d at 480. Based upon this statement alone and the medical releases, the Utah Supreme court held that a proper notice of claim had been made.

When the plaintiff in Stahl brought the lawsuit against UTA, UTA argued that the plaintiff had not brought her claim within the then applicable 30 day period. However, the Utah Supreme Court in Stahl found that: “There was substantial compliance with the 30 day notice provision and defendant was in no way prejudiced by plaintiff’s failure to comply with the formality of filing a claim.” Id at 42. So holding, the Stahl court found the insurance agent was authorized by law to handle the approval and denial of plaintiff’s claims, thus representing the interests of the government. The court found that the insurance adjuster’s actions in obtaining a signed statement of the plaintiff’s version of the accident were for all practical purposes the acts of the UTA. Under these facts, the Utah Supreme court held: “Clearly there was substantial compliance with the notice of claim provision. No undue hardship resulted from the notice being given to an agent of

the party named in the statute.” Id.⁴

With approval, the Stahl court reviewed the Pennsylvania case of Badger v. Upper Darby Township, 348 Pa. 551, 36 A.2d 507 (1944) where plaintiff’s counsel, within the prescribed period, gave written notice to the insurance carrier for the defendant Township rather than the clerk or secretary of such municipality, as required by statute. In allowing the plaintiff to maintain the action even in light of this failure, the Badger court held:

In determining, in its discretion, whether a failure to file a notice prescribed by the act should be excused, a weighty circumstance could be considered by the court as whether or not the municipality has suffered any undue hardship. Here there is nothing to indicate that it did so suffer. Of controlling importance is the fact that within the prescribed period the insurance company was notified that the claim was being made, was furnished with the essential facts regarding the accident, and, by designating a physician to examine the plaintiff apparently admitted its responsibilities to investigate the claim. If, as would appear, the insurance the company is the real party in interest a decision denying plaintiff the right to prosecute a claim because of failure to give written notice to the township would be one of sure literalism, for had such notice been given, the township would undoubtedly, in due course, have turned it over to the company to which plaintiff’s counsel had sent it in the first instance. It is no unusual for lawyers representing claimants in accident cases to communicate with insurance companies directly rather than with defendants, since the former control negotiations for settlement and prepared the defense in case of litigation.

Id at 508-09.

In the present circumstances the applicability of this reasoning is even more plain.

⁴Plaintiff recognizes that the Stahl court attempted to distinguish the Transit Act from the Governmental Immunity Act at issue here. However, plaintiff maintains that the distinction does not survive scrutiny and that the underlying holding of the Stahl court obtains here.

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