2000

Mary Wheeler and Petra Srbova v. Mark Mcpherson and Kane County : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Further, this Court has been very explicit in declaring that strict compliance is the law. In fact, as recently as March, 2001, it has been proclaimed so. Plaintiffs have only two cases on which they reach to rely. However, the court stated, even in those cases, that strict compliance is the law and that only because of very specific facts, did they reach what seems to be a more flexible holding of the law. Plaintiffs' reliance on these cases and facts are misplaced.

Additionally, Defendants motion to dismiss was based on the fact that Plaintiffs failed to follow the statutory procedures which are **required** in order to commence a suit. Plaintiffs assert that further discovery should have been allowed. However, Plaintiffs' argument is inappropriate as Defendants moved the trial court to dismiss based on lack of subject matter

jurisdiction, therefore, Rule 56(f) is inappropriate. Again, the trial court was correct in dismissing Plaintiffs' suit and in not approving additional discovery.

Finally, Plaintiffs have argued that this Court should now adjust the law to make it one of "substantial compliance." Again, this Court has declared over and over again that strict compliance is the law and Plaintiffs have not offered any compelling reason to deviate from what has advanced justice for over twenty-five years. Furthermore, this is not the correct forum in which to seek an adjustment of the statute. Any change must be legislatively mandated.

The trial court properly dismissed Plaintiffs claims for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, and this Court should affirm its holding.

ARGUMENT

I. PLAINTIFFS' CLAIM IS BARRED AS A MATTER OF LAW BECAUSE THEY DID NOT COMPLY WITH THE UTAH GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ACT'S NOTICE REQUIREMENTS.

Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-30-11 and 63-30-13 explicitly state, in relevant part:

§ 13: A claim against a political subdivision, or against its employee . . . , ***is barred*** unless notice of claim is filed with the ***governing body*** of the political subdivision ***according to the requirements of Section 63-30-11*** within one year after the claim arises, . . .
§ 11: (b) The notice of claim shall be:

- (ii) **directed and delivered** to:
- (B) the **county clerk**, when the claim is against a county; (Emphasis added).
See Appellants' Addendum A

The Utah Supreme Court has consistently held that strict compliance of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act is required. Rushton v. Salt Lake County, 977 P.2d 1201, 1203 (Utah 1999), (see Scarborough v. Granite School District, 531 P.2d 480, 482 (Utah 1972) (The Court stated "[w]e have consistently held that where a cause of action is based upon a statute, full compliance with its requirements is a condition precedent to the right to maintain a suit.")).

Further, this Court has held that when interpreting a statute, the plain language is first examined. State v. Vigil, 842 P.2d 843, 845 (Utah 1992), Bellonio v. Salt Lake City Corp., 911 P.2d 1294, 1296 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). This Court stated that "[w]e will resort to other methods of statutory interpretation only if we find the language of the statutes to be ambiguous." Vigil, at 845. In Bellonio, regarding § 13 of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, the Court of Appeals of Utah found they need look no further than the statute's plain language. Bellonio, at 1296. "The plain meaning of section 13 is that a claim against a political subdivision is "barred" unless notice is filed with the "governing body," which is enumerated in § 63-30-11, within one year of the claim arising." Id. As recently as this year, courts have already declared twice, that the notice

provisions of the Governmental Immunity Act are to be strictly construed and full compliance with its requirements is a condition precedent to the right to maintain a suit. Thimmes v. Utah State University, 417 Utah Adv. Rep. 4 (Utah Ct. App. 2001), Great West Casualty v. Utah Department of Transportation, 415 Utah Adv. Rep. 26 (Utah Ct. App. 2001).¹

Plaintiffs' Delivery Of Their Notice Was NOT Legally Sufficient.

In their Brief, Plaintiffs' basis for this appeal is that the trial court was estopped from dismissing their case and was incorrect in doing so because their notice was eventually received by employees of the county clerk's office, and such action fulfilled the overall purpose and intent of § 63-30-13. Plaintiffs argument is premised on three cases, Brittain v. State by and through Utah Department of Employment, 882 P.2d 666 (Utah Ct. App. 1994), Bischel v. Merit, 907 P.2d 275 (Utah Ct. App. 1995), and Stahl v. Utah Transit Authority, 618 P.2d 480 (Utah 1980). However, Plaintiffs' reliance on the above cases is misplaced and the facts are distinguishable to the facts of the case at hand.

In Brittain, the court determined that where the plaintiff directed and delivered their notice of claim to Risk Management

¹It must be noted that in the Great West Casualty decision, Judge Orme expressed frustration that any change to the state's "immunity scheme" cannot be resolved in this forum, and is an issue for the legislature, not the courts. See Appellees' Argument III in this Brief.

and the attorney general, the requirements of § 63-30-12 were satisfied. At the time of Brittain's holding, § 12 provided:

A claim against the state, or against its employee for an act or omission occurring during the performance of his duties, within the scope of employment, or under color of authority is barred unless notice of claim is filed with the attorney general and the agency concerned within one year after the claim arises. Brittain, at 669 (quoting Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-12 (1993))

However the court the court in Bellonio distinguished Brittain in one respect, because it was a case involving § 12 rather than § 13. Bellonio, at 1297. The case was further distinguished facts by reasoning that while the court found it "reasonable" to construe Risk Management as the "agency concerned" as set forth in § 12, § 13 contained no language that the city's legal counsel was entitled to the notice. Id.

In Bischel, the court found a notice of claim sufficient where the plaintiff directed and delivered notice to the county attorney as opposed to the county commission. The plaintiff did not know who serve, so she called the commission to ask. In response the plaintiff was instructed to direct and deliver her notice to the Salt Lake County Attorney. It must be noted that at the time of Bischel, the notice requirements of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act were more ambiguous than they are under the present code. When Bischel was decided, § 13 stated that a claim against a political subdivision "is barred unless notice is

filed with the *governing body* of the political subdivision within one year after the claim arises." Bischel, at 277 (quoting Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-13 (1993)). The court stated in its distinguishing, that,

Thus, the end result in Bischel was not based upon a substantial compliance or constructive notice theory, but rather was founded upon the apparent agency of the commission employee. Bischel at 1298.

In Stahl, the statute at issue was not even the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. Rather, the issue was whether or not the plaintiff had fulfilled the thirty day notice as required by the Utah Public Transit Act, Utah Code Ann. § 11-20-56. Stahl, at 480-81. This Court denied the defendant's motion to dismiss because the Utah Public Transit Act did not contain an express bar against maintaining an action for noncompliance and found the plaintiff's substantial compliance sufficient. Id. at 481-82. This Court declared that "generally a direction in a statute to do an act is considered "mandatory" when consequences are attached to the failure to act. Id. at 481-82. Taken conversely, this statement means that the legislature intended to bar actions for noncompliance with the Utah Governmental Immunity Act's notice requirements.²

²It must be noted that Stahl, a 1980 case, is neither binding or controlling.

A binding and more factually similar case is that of Bellonio. In Bellonio, the plaintiff argued that constructive notice, coupled with substantial compliance was sufficient but the court disagreed. Bellonio, at 1296. In the Bellonio case, the plaintiff tripped and fell in the parking terrace at the Salt Lake Airport on June 14, 1992. Bellonio's first attorney informed the insurance carrier that he was plaintiff's counsel, this information was forwarded to Robert M. Kern, the airport's legal counsel. Mr. Kern instructed that any further correspondence should come to his office. Id. at 1295.

Bellonio retained a second attorney who engaged in a number of correspondences between the plaintiff and Mr. Kern, and then on March 24, 1993, directed and delivered a notice of claim to Mr. Kern. Mr. Kern acknowledged receipt and indicated that he was awaiting further reports. On July 11, Bellonio directed and delivered his notice of claim to the Utah Attorney General, the Salt Lake City Attorney, and the Airport Director, but not upon Salt Lake City's Mayor or the Salt Lake City Council. Id.

On June 14, 1993, Bellonio's third attorney filed a complaint against Salt Lake City and the Airport. The trial court dismissed Bellonio's claim against the airport but not against Salt Lake City. The City brought an interlocutory appeal seeking dismissal because Bellonio failed to strictly comply with

the notice of claim requirements of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. Id.

As in this case, Bellonio attempted to rely on Brittain and Bischel and argued that since Mr. Kern had told him to direct all correspondence to him, that dismissal would be inappropriate. However the court relied on the fact that while the airport's attorney did request that all communication be sent to him, he never indicated that he was the proper agent to receive the notice of claim. The court further held that Bischel was not persuasive because Mr. Kern was never the agent of the mayor of the city or the council. Regarding Bellonio's reliance on Brittain and Bischel, the court declared that:

[w]hile . . . it may seem to indicate a flexible rule of constructive notice to governmental entities, this ***is not the general rule in this state.*** Bellonio, at 1297 (emphasis added).

Further, the court set forth:

[T]he precedential effect of [these] cases is limited by their unique factual underpinnings and therefore, ***neither should be construed as an indication that we are prepared to abrogate the longstanding rule requiring strict compliance with all aspects of the Governmental Immunity Act.*** Id. (emphasis added).

The court also noted that Bellonio "never even attempted to direct his notice of claim to the proper party, i.e., the mayor of the city council." Bellonio, at 1298. In their holding, the

court found that Bellonio's claim was barred since he did not file the required notice of claim set forth in § 63-30-13.

In the instant case, the explicit language of §§ 63-30-11 and 63-30-13 state that the notice of claim must be directed and delivered to the county clerk when a county is being sued. See Appellants' Brief, Addendum A. In correspondences dated February 11, 1999, Plaintiffs directed and delivered their notice of claim to the Kane County Commissioners: Stephen R. Crosby, Joe C. Judd, and Norman Carroll. See Plaintiffs' Appellate Brief, Addendum C. Plaintiffs **never directed and delivered** or even attempted to direct and deliver a notice of claim to the Kane County Clerk, nor do they dispute that they did so. Also, Defendants never instructed or even indicated to the Plaintiffs that the Kane County Commission was the proper agent to receive their notice of claim. Further, Plaintiffs never inquired if their notice was sufficient. Moreover, a letter from Linette Hutton, Defendants' counsel, dated March 8, 1999, was exact in stating that their receipt of the notice of claim did not accept, deny, confirm or verify sufficiency of the claim. See Plaintiffs' Brief, Addendum D. In light of this language, it is incredulous to contend that Ms. Hutton represented herself or the commission as Kane County's agent for purposes of the notice requirements.

Thus, the trial court was correct in finding that Plaintiffs did not comply with the statutory notice requirements, which resulted in the proper dismissal of their claim.

The County Attorney Did Not Have The Authority To Confirm The Person To Possess And Act Upon The Notice of Claim.

Plaintiffs argue further that Kane County Attorney, Colin Winchester's correspondence confirmed Kane County's legal counsel, Linette B. Hutton as who should possess and act upon the notice.

Again, Plaintiffs' erroneously rely on Bischel, and point to a March 20, 1999 letter from Mr. Winchester which stated in relevant part that "Kane County has turned the claim over to its claim adjustors, who have in turn retained Linette B. Hutton. Please direct all further correspondence to Ms. Hutton," See Appellants' Brief, Addendum E.

In light of the language in Ms. Hutton's letter as well as the decision on this exact issue in Bellonio³,, it was not

³In Bellonio, plaintiff's claims against Salt Lake City were dismissed because he filed a notice of claim with the airport's attorney. Prior to filing any notice, Plaintiff was instructed to address all correspondence to the airport's attorney. Based on these facts, the plaintiff argued that his reliance and substantial compliance was sufficient. The Court of Appeals disagreed and stated [w]hile it is clear that [the airport's attorney] did make such a request, he never indicated, either expressly or impliedly, that he was the proper agent to receive the statutory notice of claim, nor did [plaintiff] request from him any information regarding Governmental Immunity Act Compliance. Bellonio, at 1298.

reasonable for Plaintiffs to believe Mr. Winchester's instruction to address all further correspondence to Ms. Hutton made their notice sufficient and effective. As argued above, neither Ms. Hutton or Mr. Winchester represented that notice was sufficient. In fact, Ms. Hutton went one step further than the airport's attorney in Bellonio, and declared in her letter that correspondence with her **did not** validate sufficiency of notice. Further, it must be noted that even though Plaintiffs tout that they believed Mr. Winchester and Ms. Hutton to have had authority to act on behalf of Kane County, Plaintiffs never attempted to direct and deliver a notice of claim to either of them.

All Plaintiffs' reasoning and argument does not obviate the fact that they did not comply with the notice requirements. For these reasons, the trial court's decision must be affirmed.

II. IT WAS PROPER FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO NOT ALLOW PLAINTIFFS' REQUEST FOR ADDITIONAL DISCOVERY SINCE THE CLAIM WAS DISMISSED DUE TO THE COURT'S LACK OF JURISDICTION.

In their brief, Plaintiffs state that "when matters outside the pleadings under Rule 12 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure are considered, the motion is properly treated as one for summary judgment under rule 56." See Appellants' Brief at p. 19. In this case, the court granted Defendants' motion to dismiss based on a lack of subject matter jurisdiction, therefore, Rule 56(f) is inapplicable. See R. at 165-167.

The Utah Supreme Court has explicitly held that the statutory notice requirement is " a jurisdictional requirement and a precondition to suit." Lamarr v. Utah State Dept. of Transp., 828 P.2d 535, 540 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (citing Madsen v. Borthick, 769 P.2d 245, 250 (Utah 1988)). In Lamarr, the court granted defendant's motion for summary judgment and found the agency immune as per the Utah Governmental Immunity Act and plaintiff appealed. The plaintiff argued that the notice issue was not properly before the court because the notice issue was an affirmative defense and not properly pleaded in defendant's answer. Lamarr, at 540. Plaintiff argued further that since the defendant did not ask the court to rule on the notice issue in their summary judgment motion, the court could not rule on it. Id. The court declared that the plaintiff's argument "misconstrues the nature of the statutory notice of claim requirement." Id. The court in Lamarr announced that it was **required** to dismiss the claim against the defendant because it lacked jurisdiction. Id.

In the present case, while Defendants did provide an affidavit in support of their Motion to Dismiss. Plaintiffs have misrepresented the law regarding this motion. Therefore, Rule 56(f) is inapplicable to the present case. Here, Defendants' Motion to Dismiss was not based on grounds that Plaintiff did not state a claim upon which relief can be granted. Defendants moved

the court to dismiss Plaintiffs' claim based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 12(b)(1). R. 20-29. Since the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure do not provide for treatment of Rule (b)(1) motions as motions for summary judgment, Plaintiffs' appeal on this issue is inappropriate.

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